

## CHILDREN'S SOCIAL CARE COMPLAINTS PROTOCOL

Version & Policy Number	Version one
Guardian	Governance Team
Date Produced	December 2014
Next Review Date	December 2017

Approved by SMT January 2015
------------------------------

#### **Summary of document**

Rutland County Council has reviewed the way in which it handles complaints about Social Care. This protocol sets out how complaints about Children's Social Care should be managed; it provides guidance on dealing with the statutory process and explains the different stages to be progressed in the event of a complaint.

CONTENTS	PAGE
Introduction	4
Key Principles	4
Definitions	5
Who may complain?	5
How to make a complaint	6
What can be complained about?	6
What cannot be complained about?	6
Where a complaint raises vulnerability or harm issues	7
Time limit for making a complaint	7
Complaints and the Media	8
The statutory complaint process	8
Local Government Ombudsman	10
Remedy, Rectify – which may include financial redress	10
Compensation	11
Advocacy support	11
Learning from complaints	11
Data Protection	12
Joint Investigations	12
Persistent, unreasonable, vexatious complainants	13
Performance Reporting	13
Appendices:	
Appendix 1 – Further information	14

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

This policy is for the use of everyone who may be involved in the application of Rutland County Council's Statutory Complaints Procedure for Children's Social Care. Its aim is to provide a comprehensive but easily accessible guide to all aspects of the procedure. Complaints not covered by this process will be dealt with under this Council's Compliments, Comments and Complaints Policy and Procedure (although Social Care complaints should still be logged and monitored centrally – see Appendix 2 for details).

There are three stages of the statutory complaints procedure:

- Stage One Local resolution
- Stage Two Independent investigation
- Stage Three Independent review panel hearing

A robust and responsive complaints procedure is a key factor in demonstrating that professionals working with children, young people and families are open to challenge, are able to communicate effectively and show that they make decisions in a transparent, open and honest way.

It is strongly recommended that this procedure be read in conjunction with 'Getting the Best from Complaints' (link below). This guidance sets out changes to the children's social services representations procedure as a result of the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000, Adoption and Children Act 2002 and the Health and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003.

https://www.education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/Getting%20the%20best%20from%20complaints.pdf

#### 2. KEY PRINCIPLES

- The welfare of the child is paramount.
- The procedure should not detract from the Council's duty of care.
- People using the complaints procedure will be treated with dignity and respect.
- The complaints procedure is clear and easy to access.
- The complainant remains informed about the progress of their complaint.
- Complaints are viewed positively as a means of gaining feedback and information to improve the services we provide and not a negative process to apportion blame.

#### 3. DEFINITIONS

The Children Act 1989 defines the complaints procedure as being for 'representations (including complaints)'. In this legislation a representation could also include a compliment or an enquiry on the nature, delivery or availability of a service. Therefore, for a clearer understanding and to benefit those required to use this document, the following terms will be used as a replacement to the phrase, 'Representation':

- Complaint A complaint may generally be defined as an expression of dissatisfaction or disquiet, in relation to an individual child or young person, which requires an investigation and response.
- Concern On a daily basis there are many instances where minor concerns can be addressed without further recourse to the complaints procedure. These are generally handled locally within the team, and resolved within a short space of time.
- Compliment Many of those in receipt of a service wish to give a compliment.

The department should welcome these and thank those who take the time and trouble to give them.

It should also be acknowledged that those in receipt of a service should be able to express their views with regards to the service they receive, or the establishment they live in, without having this framed as a complaint.

#### 4. WHO MAY COMPLAIN

Anyone who is in receipt of a service or think they should be in receipt of a service. Also their representative, known as a 'qualifying individual' may complain on their behalf.

The Local Authority has the discretion to decide whether or not the 'qualifying individual' is suitable to act on behalf of the child or young person or has sufficient interest in their welfare. If they do not meet this requirement, they should be notified in writing giving an explanation (the nominated Complaints Manager should discuss this decision with relevant managers as appropriate).

#### 5. HOW TO MAKE A COMPLAINT

Complaints can be accepted in any format which the complainant chooses – including

- Orally
- in writing
- text message or

website facility

#### 6. WHAT CAN BE COMPLAINED ABOUT

Some examples are given below – this is not an exhaustive list.

- An unwelcome or disputed decision.
- Concern about the quality or appropriateness of a service.
- Delivery or non-delivery of services.
- Quantity, frequency, change or cost of a service.
- Attitude or behaviour of staff.
- Poor / lack of communication.
- Application of eligibility and assessment criteria.
- · Assessment, care management and review.
- The quality or accuracy of a social work report.
- · Control of parental contact.

#### 7. WHAT CANNOT BE COMPLAINED ABOUT

Some examples are given – this is not an exhaustive list.

- Disciplinary proceedings.
- Criminal proceedings.
- Grievance proceedings.
- Complaints from staff about personal issues.
- Foster Carer's on their own behalf (this is dealt with under the Corporate Procedure). However, they are able to support the 'looked after child' in making a complaint regarding services provided.
- Where an appeals process already exists.
- Complaints relating to independent providers (all independent service providers are required to have their own complaints procedure in place)
- Where a Court or Tribunal has made, is making, or is about to make a determination on the specifics of the complaint (in these instances it is usual to consult with the Legal Team for confirmation /clarification).
- Where the same complaint has previously been dealt with through all stages of the complaints procedure.
- Decisions made at Child Protection Case Conferences (this is covered

by a separate procedure) can be accessed via:

http://llrscb.proceduresonline.com/chapters/p\_appeals\_by\_parents.html

#### 8. WHERE A COMPLAINT RAISES VULNERABILITY OR HARM ISSUES

The safety and protection of a child or young person is a higher priority than the investigation of the complaint. If they are at risk of harm, child protection procedures should be instigated immediately. Any other aspects of the complaint are put 'on hold' and if appropriate are resumed, as soon as the issue of protection and safety has been concluded.

#### 9. TIME LIMIT FOR MAKING A COMPLAINT

There is a time limit of 12 months from when the issue being complained about occurred, to when a complaint may be accepted. After this time, any complaints made are not usually considered. However, this is negotiable on a case by case basis and at the Local Authority's discretion.

The nominated Complaints Manager will write to the complainant advising them of any decisions made and providing an explanation where required. The complainant should also be informed of their right to approach the Local Government Ombudsman if they disagree.

Possible grounds for extending the time limit are:

- There is a genuine reason why the complaint was not made sooner and the complaint can still be investigated effectively and efficiently.
- The child or young person was not able or confident to make the complaint earlier.
- Genuine issues of vulnerability.

#### 10. COMPLAINTS AND THE MEDIA

Whilst complaints should remain strictly confidential, some may come to the attention of the media. The fact that the complainant has gone to the media (local or national) does not absolve the Council from its responsibility to maintain confidentiality.

The media and complaints handling should remain separate. Media contact is managed by communications professionals within the Council.

#### 11. THE STATUTORY COMPLAINTS PROCESS

#### Stage One:

**Local Resolution** 

The initial complaint that comes in can sometimes go directly to the Team Manager of the service or another officer rather than a nominated Complaints Manager – either way the nominated Complaints Manager should be informed and the complaint should be sent to the Governance Team via email at <a href="mailto:letusknow@rutland.gov.uk">letusknow@rutland.gov.uk</a> in order to record the complaint, allocate a Unique Reference Number and monitor its progress through the statutory stages. The stage one investigation and response is carried out by the Team Manager, or if the Team Manager has been named in the complaint, then the Head of Service may be approached. The following then applies:

- Acknowledge the complaint within one working day (responsibility of the Governance Team)
- 10 working days is the expected timescale for a full response to the complainant.

This may need to be extended, hopefully following negotiation with the complainant if the complaint is complex, or an advocate is required.

If the complainant also raises concerns regarding a member of staff (for example; their conduct, decisions made, dispute over information contained in the assessment etc), at the very least, staff should be informed that a complaint is being investigated at stage one of the complaints process.

Good practice dictates that the staff member be interviewed as a matter of course and if the complaint progresses to stage two (where the staff member is required to be formally interviewed) they will already be prepared for this eventuality.

• At the conclusion of the response, the complainant must be informed of their right to progress their complaint to stage two if they remain dissatisfied. They have 20 working days in which to request this.

#### **Stage Two:**

Independent Investigation

The nominated Complaints Manager will oversee the stage two process.

 The nominated Complaints Manager will appoint an Independent Investigator to carry out the investigation; this may also involve the appointment of an Independent Person and / or an Advocate for the complainant where appropriate (e.g. where a young person is making the complaint). • If at any stage during the investigation, the Investigator believes that the complaint is now capable of early resolution, the department will suspend the complaint investigation.

It should be recognised that this can be a very difficult period for staff, especially throughout the interview stage. They must be informed that they are able to bring a colleague for support to the interviews if they wish (their line manager cannot act in this role – also the department cannot fund the support arranged).

Staff should feel confident in expressing their views on the issues, and how procedures were followed in each case. They should feel able to either agree or disagree with each complaint.

- The expected timescale for a response to the complaint is 25 working days. If an Advocate is required or there are exceptional circumstances, as with stage one, this may need to be extended. The Head of Service will normally respond to the complainant in writing enclosing the Investigator's report (and the Independent Person's report where appropriate). However the department may consider that a discussion may more easily resolve the complaint and will offer a resolution meeting to the complainant in its written response.
- At the conclusion of the stage two response the complainant must be informed of their right to progress to stage three if they remain dissatisfied. They have 20 working days in which to request this.

#### **Stage Three:**

Review Panel (for further information, see Appendix 1)

If the complainant remains unhappy and is in disagreement with the outcome reached, they are entitled to request that their complaint goes to review panel. This is the third and final stage of the Statutory Complaints Procedure.

The Panel will consider whether the complaint was properly investigated, whether the report has a clear logic and whether the evidence presented supports conclusions and recommendations made at stage two. The Panel is not an investigatory body and its remit is to review the stage two investigation and the complaints process that has led to stage three. The Panel will also where necessary make its own findings and recommendations.

- The Panel will consist of three members (one to be Chair).
- The Panel will focus on the complainant's desired outcomes, with a view to a resolution.
- The Director of People will write to the complainant informing them

of the final decision reached.

• On completion, should the complainant remain dissatisfied, they will be advised on how to contact the Local Government Ombudsman by the nominated Complaints Manager or the Director of People.

#### 12. LOCAL GOVERNMENT OMBUDSMAN (LGO)

The LGO investigate complaints of injustice arising from maladministration by the Local Authority, which may include looking at complaints both in relation to the provision of social services and in relation to the operation of the complaints process. They can also investigate complaints about how the Local Authority has carried out these processes.

When necessary the LGO will inform the complainant that the Local Authority concerned must have an opportunity to investigate / respond to a complaint before they will become involved. For example, if the complainant goes direct to the LGO without having first made the complaint to the council allowing them the opportunity to investigate and respond. However in exceptional circumstances the LGO will consider an early referral from the council (this is done on a case by case basis).

The LGO are impartial. When they receive a complaint, they are on the side of neither the complainant nor the respondent Authority. They are there to defend Authorities against unjustified allegations as well as to seek remedies for those who have been wronged. Of course, if the LGO do find that something has gone wrong and that a person has suffered in consequence, they will do their utmost to obtain a satisfactory remedy. They will not question what has been done simply because the complainant does not agree with decisions made.

If the LGO is satisfied with the remedial action offered by the council, the complaint will be regarded as 'locally settled' and discontinue their investigation. Before reaching that decision, the LGO will usually consult the complainant, but is not bound by their views.

#### 13. REMEDY, RECTIFY-WHICH MAY INCLUDE FINANCIAL RECOMPENSE

A decision to rectify matters can be made at any stage, where the Council is clearly at fault. Such forms of remedy can take the following:

- An apology which is the correct outcome for most upheld complaints. These must be unambiguous. It is the Council that makes the apology, unless an individual member of staff wishes to apologise in their own right.
- Re-assessment of need this will need to be done promptly, in order that the new service (if any) can be started promptly and the complaint closed.
- Provision or re-instatement of a service this will need to be started

as soon as possible and the complaint closed.

- Change of procedure to prevent reoccurrence confirmation should be given to the complainant as to what the change will be, and when it will be implemented.
- An ex-gratia payment. Management may feel that it may be appropriate to recognise shortcomings either in the service provided, the way the complaint was handled, or the time involved for the complainant during the complaint process. The LGO provides advice on amounts applicable, to settle such local disputes.
- The payment of restitution. If a complaint is upheld, and the fault has
  resulted in material, calculable losses, then the Council can put
  matters right by paying the complainant a sum, which reflects that
  loss. This is called financial recompense. The Legal Team can
  provide further advice in this area.

#### 14. COMPENSATION

The payment of compensation is an entirely different matter. Complainants are entitled to seek compensation through a Court of law and a number of people may be involved in the deliberations.

These are likely to be:

- The Council's insurer who will be responsible for advising on a fair settlement or the defence against a Court action.
- The Council's Solicitor or their representative who will be responsible for advising on Court action or settlement.
- The Director who is responsible for providing information about level of operational compliance with policy and procedure within the complaint.
- The nominated Complaints Manager who will advise on compliance with complaints handling policy / procedure and be the liaison for communications. They will also carry out the co-ordination and recording of decisions in relations to the compensation claim

#### 15. ADVOCACY SUPPORT

Sometimes, the child or young person will need extra help to make their complaint, either just at the beginning or possibly throughout the whole procedure. This may be best provided by a relative or a friend, or arrangements can be made to provide independent advocacy support.

They can request this themselves or someone can do this on their behalf, e.g., their foster carer or social worker.

#### 16. LEARNING FROM COMPLAINTS

It should be remembered that the formal complaint investigation process is not to 'find fault', but to look at the practices followed in relation to the complaint issues at hand. This also provides an insightful valuable source of information and we will use these experiences to:

- Identify service problems and make improvements.
- Improve / adapt staff learning and enhance professional development.

To this aim, an overview of the learning outcome will be forwarded to the Governance Coordinator by the Head of Service following the investigation and closure of a complaint.

#### 17. DATA PROTECTION

All functions of the complaint procedure must adhere to the requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998 and the Freedom of Information Act 2000.

Under the Data Protection Act 1998, those who collect and use personal information need to follow rules of good practice for handling information called the 'data protection principles'. The Act also gives rights to individuals whose information they collect and use.

The Information Commissioner's Office (ICO) is responsible for regulating the Data Protection Act.

If a complaint is made direct to the ICO regarding the way we have handled or used personal information, the ICO will first establish that we have been given an opportunity to put things right. If we have been unsuccessful in resolving the situation to the satisfaction of the complainant, then the ICO will look into the matter concerned.

The ICO cannot award compensation. Their main aim is to advise on ways to change, which will enable personal information to be handled correctly in the future. Click on the following link for more information: <a href="http://www.ico.gov.uk/complaints/data\_protection.aspx">http://www.ico.gov.uk/complaints/data\_protection.aspx</a>

### 18. JOINT INVESTIGATION (COMPLAINTS THAT CROSS BOUNDARY ISSUES)

Sometimes a complaint will cross the boundaries between organisations, for example, another local authority, an NHS body, the Police, a housing agency. Where a complaint crosses these boundaries, the services involved should try to assist the complainant to have their complaint dealt with efficiently whilst aiming to provide a joint resolution.

To enable the investigation to run more smoothly, one organisation should

take the lead. There are many factors involved in making this decision, and the following should be taken in consideration:

- Which organisation has the most serious complaints about it?
- Whether a large number of the issues in the complaint relate to one organisation opposed to the other organisation.
- Who originally received the complaint relevant if the seriousness and number of complaints are about the same for each organisation.
- Whether the complainant has a clear preference for which organisation takes the lead.

#### 19. PERSISTENT, UNRESONABLE, VEXATIOUS COMPLAINANTS

A very small number of complainants fall within the definition of persistent, unreasonable or vexatious complainants. To define a complainant as such, staff should seek the advice of the Head of Corporate Governance.

#### 20. PERFORMANCE REPORT

Local Authorities are required to publish an annual report every financial year which details complaints made for that year. It is the responsibility of the Head of Corporate Governance to produce this and is an important part of governance function. The report is presented to the Resources Scrutiny Panel and senior management to ensure activity is noted and any lessons learnt are shared.

Once accepted / agreed, the annual report should be available to both staff and the general public alike.

#### **FURTHER INFORMATION**

#### **FURTHER INFORMATION ON STAGE THREE**

The complainant has 20 working days (from the date of the stage two letter of response) in which to request to progress to stage three, the final stage of the Statutory Complaints Procedure.

Upon receipt of such a request being made, a Review Panel should be arranged to meet within 28 working days. This is usually the role of the nominated Complaints Manager - time scales can be extended in certain circumstances in consultation with the complainant.

#### **GENERAL PRINCIPLES OF A REVIEW PANEL**

It is the Panel's task to re-examine the previous conclusions reached at the preceding stages. It can review the investigation itself, the outcome and whichever part of the Council's response is still in dispute (they will not need to review parts of the complaint which are no longer in dispute).

The Review Panel will be made up of three independent people who must not be:

- Employees of Rutland County Council
- Elected members of Rutland County Council
- A spouse or partner of either of the above.

One member will be appointed as the Panel Chair. Ideally the Chair should be appointed first (before identifying other Panel members) and will have had some relevant experience for this particular role.

#### WHAT THE COMPLAINTS PANEL WILL NOT DO

- The Panel will not re-investigate the complaint.
- Will not consider a complaint unless it has already been investigated under stage two.
- Cannot directly consider matters which are, or have been placed before a Court of Law.

#### WHAT HAPPENS NEXT?

The complainant should be notified of the location and date the Panel will be arranged in writing, providing them with at least 10 working days before the Panel meets. They will also be informed that they are able to bring a 'Supporter' to the Review Panel hearing should they wish to do so. The 'Supporter' can attend either to simply support the complainant by being present or by assisting the complainant by presenting the case on their behalf.

The Panel will also require the presence of certain other people in order to ensure that they are able to consider the whole matter in a robust and effective manner.

Attendees should include those persons involved with the investigation at stage two (e.g., investigating officer / independent person) as well as a representative from the Department. This will usually be the member of staff who was responsible for writing the response for stage two.

The Chair should make the final decision on attendees (they may also request that specific members of staff be available to provide specialist advice or opinion).

Ideally no party should feel the need to be represented by Solicitors. The purpose of the Panel is to consider the complaint and, wherever possible, work towards a resolution. It is not a judicial process and the presence of Solicitors may work against the spirit of openness and problem solving.

Relevant documents should be sent to the 'Panel members' and other attendees as soon as these have been agreed by the Chair and no later than 10 working days before the date of the Panel. These should normally include:

- Information / response from stage one.
- Stage two investigation reports and subsequent outcome / decisions reached by the Head of Service.
- Any policy, practice or guidance information relevant to the complaint.
- Any further (relevant) comments the complainant has made for submission to the Panel.

#### **FINALLY**

The Review Panel's findings and any recommendations they wish to make should be recorded in the form of a written report and sent to the Director for People within five working days.

The Director must respond to the complainant within 15 working days (upon receipt of the above), providing an explanation behind the final decisions reached. The complainant is entitled to see the report provided by the Panel and should be enclosed with the response.

# A large print version of this document is available on request.



Rutland County Council Catmose, Oakham, Rutland LE15 6HP

01572 722 577

enquiries@rutland.gov.uk

www.rutland.gov.uk